

City of Lucas

Purchasing Policy and Procedures

Table of Contents

I.	Purpose
II.	Purchasing Ethics
III.	Delegation of Purchasing Authority
IV	Purchasing Process
	A. Purchases up to \$1,0005
	B. Purchases over \$1,000 but less than \$5,0005
	C. Purchases \$5,000 but less than \$10,000
	D. Purchases \$10,000 but less than \$50,000
	E. Purchases \$50,000 and greater
	F. Technology Related Purchases7
	G. State Purchasing Debarred and Vendor List
	H. Requisition to Purchase Order Process
	I. Formal Bid Procedure for City Departments
	J. Advertising and Advertising Time Requirements9
	K. Competitive Bidding and Proposals9
	L. Bid Specifications 10
	M. Sealed Bid Administration 11
	N. Sealed Bid Opening and Pre-Bid Meeting Procedures11
	O. Competitive Proposals
	P. Cooperative Purchasing 12
	Q. Sole Source Purchases
	R. Emergency Purchases
	S. Other Exemptions from Competitive Bidding

	T. Insurance Requirement14
	U. State Law regarding Bonding15
	V. Blanket Purchase Order16
	W. Change Order16
	X. Tax Exempt Status
	Y. Vendor Credit Application17
	Z. Important Information for the using departments
	AA. Selection Procedures on Purchases17
	BB. Purchase Management18
V.	Purchasing Credit Card Policy
VI.	City Contract Administering Policy20
	A. Overview20
	B. Statement of Purpose21
	C. Policy
	D. Contract Procedures21
	E. State Law Requirements
VII.	Noncompliance
VIII.	Glossary of Purchasing Terms24

I. PURPOSE

The purpose of the purchasing procedures is to provide the City staff with a guideline for the procurement of material, services, equipment, contracts and leases. The City of Lucas is committed to ensuring that all purchases are in compliance with State and Federal law and City ordinances and policies when procuring the highest quality material and services at the best value for the citizens of Lucas. Any change in state law will automatically supersede the section of the City's Purchasing Policy where the amendment is applicable. City of Lucas Departments conducting a formal bid should notify the Finance Department or Purchasing Representative to ensure compliance with State law (e.g., newspaper advertisements, written specifications, etc.). For the purpose of this policy, the term employee also includes volunteers with purchasing authority.

II. PURCHASING ETHICS

All City staff engaged in procurement for the City of Lucas shall comply with the following ethical standards:

- A. It shall be a breach of ethics to attempt to realize unauthorized personal gain through employment with the City of Lucas or by any conduct inconsistent with the proper discharge of the employee's duties.
- B. It shall be a breach of ethics to attempt to influence any public employee of the City of Lucas to violate the standards of conduct set forth by the City.
- C. It shall be a breach of ethics for any employee of the City of Lucas to participate directly or indirectly in a procurement for the City of Lucas when the employee knows that:
 - 1. The employee or any member of the employee's immediate family has a financial interest pertaining to the procurement.
 - 2. A business or organization in which the employee or any member of the employee's immediate family, has a financial interest pertaining to the procurement.
 - 3. Any other person, business or organization with which the employee or any member of the employee's immediate family is negotiating or has an arrangement concerning prospective employment is involved in the procurement.
 - 4. The employee or any member of the employee's family has borrowed or lent money to any supplier.
- D. City employees shall spend City funds in an ethical way that avoids any appearance of impropriety. If an employee has a family relationship with a vendor, the employee should not make the choice to use the vendor without contacting the City Manager.
- E. It shall be a breach of ethics to offer, give, or agree to give any employee or former employee of the City of Lucas, or for any employee or former employee of the City of

Lucas to solicit, demand, accept or agree to accept from another person, a gratuity or an offer of employment in connection with any decision, regarding a procurement or influencing the content of any specification or procurement standard.

- F. The prohibition against gratuities and kickbacks prescribed above shall be conspicuously set forth in every procurement contract and solicitation.
- G. It shall be a breach of ethics for any employee or former employee of the City of Lucas knowingly to use confidential information for actual or anticipated personal gain, or for the actual or anticipated gain of any person.
- H. There are times when, during the course of business, that it may be appropriate to conduct business during meals. In such instances, the meal should be for a specific business purpose. Employees should avoid frequent meals with the same supplier.
- I. Employees who hold affiliations or represent professional organizations should not use his/her position to persuade an individual or firm to provide a benefit to the organization.

III. DELEGATION OF PURCHASING AUTHORITY

Department Directors have authorized certain City employees to be the purchasing representative for the department. All purchasing request should be sent through the authorized department representative who will work with the Finance Department on certain purchases.

IV.PURCHASING PROCESS

A. PURCHASES UP TO \$1,000

The Finance Department maintains a \$200.00 Petty Cash Account, these funds are available to purchase minor items when it would be otherwise impractical to purchase items through the usual purchase order methods. The Finance Department is responsible for the proper safeguarding of petty cash monies entrusted to the departments.

Purchases costing up to \$1,000 can be approved by the Department Director. These purchases do not require a purchase order number but do require prior approval from the Department Director before purchasing an item or service.

If the vendor requires a PO, the Department representative must complete a requisition and provide a quote from the vendor as a backup.

B. PURCHASES OVER \$1,000 BUT LESS THAN \$5,000

- 1. The department representative must complete a requisition to be approved by the Department Director and the Finance Department.
- 2. Expenditures that are \$1,000 or more require three (3) quotes including pricing and contact information and must be noted on a form or attached to the purchase order.

3. For expenditures over \$3,000 but less than \$50,000, the City must contact at least two (2) Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) vendor on a rotating basis, based on information provided by the comptroller pursuant to Chapter 2161, Government Code. If the list fails to identify a historically underutilized business in the county in which the municipality is situated, the municipality is exempt from this section.

C. PURCHASES \$5,000 BUT LESS THAN \$10,000

- 1. Any requisition over \$5,000 must be approved by the City Manager or the Finance Director (in absence of the City Manager) prior to being processed by the Finance Department.
- 2. All requisitions over \$5,000 require three (3) bids from participating vendors.
- 3. For expenditures over \$3,000 but less than \$50,000, the City must contact at least two (2) Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) vendors on a rotating basis, based on information provided by the comptroller pursuant to Chapter 2161, Government Code. If the list fails to identify a historically underutilized business in the county in which the municipality is situated, the municipality is exempt from this section.
- 4. Departments Directors cannot split the purchase of like items totaling \$5,000 or more.

D. PURCHASES \$10,000 BUT LESS THAN \$50,000

- 1. The department representative must complete a purchase order with the three (3) bids attached and obtain the Department Directors approval.
- 2. The purchase order must also be approved by the Finance Department and the City Manager.
- 3. For expenditures over \$3,000 but less than \$50,000, the City must contact at least two (2) Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) vendors on a rotating basis, based on information provided by the comptroller pursuant to Chapter 2161, Government Code. If the list fails to identify a historically underutilized business in the county in which the municipality is situated, the municipality is exempt from this section.

E. PURCHASES OF \$50,000 AND GREATER

- 1. Purchases must be accomplished through the formal request for bid, request for qualification or request for proposal process with detailed written specifications. The development of the written specifications will be prepared by the requesting Department.
- 2. All purchases over \$50,000 must be submitted to City Council for approval. This includes any purchases exempt from the bidding procedure. The Finance Department and the requesting Department will make a consensus award recommendation to the City Council. It is the responsibility of the requesting Department to present the request to City Council.
- 3. No purchase orders will be issued prior to City Council approval. City Council approval date and item number must be noted on purchase order.

4. A copy of all contracts shall be attached to the original purchase order.

Dollar Figure	Supervisor/ Manager or Director Designee	Department Directors	Finance Department	City Manager	City Council
Up to \$1,000 NO purchase order required	X OR	X			
Over \$1,000 to less than \$5,000 Purchase Order Required Three Quotes Required	X	X	X		
\$5,000 to less than \$10,000 Purchase Order Required Three Quotes Required		X	X OR	X	
\$10,000 to less than \$50,000 Purchase Order and Three Quotes Required		X	X	X	
\$50,000 Formal Bids Required		x	X	X	X

APPROVAL REQUIREMENT FOR PURCHASES

F. TECHNOLOGY RELATED PURCHASES

- 1. All computer equipment, software, printers, wireless cards, monitors, cell phones, GIS related products or any items that will be used on the City network, or items related to the telephone system or require access to the City network must be approved through the Information Technology Staff Representative designated.
- 2. The requesting Department will place the request of purchase with the IT Staff Representative. The IT Staff Representative will coordinate the item to be purchased with the IT Consultant to ensure proper bidding procedure are followed and the City is receiving the lowest and best price. Then the IT Staff Representative working with the IT Consultant will approve the purchase and create a requisition, if required.

3. It will be the responsibility of the Information Technology Consultant to have the appropriate approvals on the requisition/ Purchase Order and then place the order.

G. STATE PURCHASING DEBARRED/DIVESTMENT STATUS LIST

Vendors who have failed to comply with their state contracts and have been debarred from doing business with the state of Texas for a specific period may be found at:

https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/programs/vendor-performance-tracking/debarred-vendors.php

S.B. 252 is a bill relating to government contracts with terrorists. The bill provides that: (1) a governmental entity, including a city, may not enter into a governmental contract with a company that is identified on a list prepared and maintained by the Texas Comptroller. The comptroller list can be found at:

https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/publications/divestment.php

The City of Lucas prohibits conducting city business with vendors who are placed on this list for the time specified.

H. REQUISITION TO PURCHASE ORDER PROCESS

- 1. Departments will create a requisition in Incode and the approval requirements will automatically attach to the requisition.
- 2. Automatic notification of the requisition will be sent to the required approving officials who will review the requisition and approve/deny.
- 3. After approval of the requisition the Finance Department will create a Purchase Order and notify the requestor of the Purchase Order number.
- 4. Departments will forward a copy of the purchase order with the terms and conditions attached to the vendor.
- 5. If a signed printed copy of the Purchase Order is needed a request should be sent to the Finance Department who will print the signed Purchase Order.
- 6. The Purchase Order can be viewed or printed from Incode at any time by the requesting department.

I. FORMAL BID PROCEDURE FOR CITY DEPARTMENTS

In order to assist the City departments in complying with all purchasing laws, policies and procedures, Finance requests that each department soliciting formal bids abide by the following procedures.

- 1. Every formal bid, Request For Qualifications (RFQ) or Request For Proposal (RFP) should be assigned a bid number. Bid numbers shall be obtained from the Finance Department or Purchasing Representative. The department will need to provide the bid name, opening dates and time and the location of the bid opening. For RFQ's and RFP's, the bid name, due date and time will be required. This enables the Finance Department or Purchasing Representative to easily identify each bid and also provides the information to advertise the bid on the City's website.
- 2. The Finance Department maintains a vendor list registering all vendors requesting to receive bid solicitations from the City of Lucas. The department shall obtain vendor information from the Finance Department once a bid number is secured.
- 3. The Finance Department or Purchasing Representative will attend all bid openings. This is to protect the using departments against any claims of impropriety.
- 4. If only one bid is received, the Finance Department or Purchasing Representative may choose to call all other vendors receiving a bid package and confirm that they did not submit a bid. This is to protect the City and its departments from accusations of favoritism or soliciting bids that are proprietary.

The Finance Department is available to assist with soliciting bids. It is the intent of the Finance Department to support and protect the departments without increasing their workload.

J. ADVERTISING AND ADVERTISING TIME REQUIREMENTS

Section 252.041 of Chapter 252 of the Local Government Code requires that the sealed bid be advertised publicly with notice of the time and place at which the bids will be publicly opened and read aloud. The public notice must be published at least once a week for two (2) consecutive weeks in a newspaper published in the municipality. The date of the first publications must be before the 14th day before the date set to publicly open the bids. All bid notices will be posted through the City Secretary, to ensure they are posted with the correct newspaper and for the correct period of time.

The notice shall include either a copy of the specifications detailing the requirements that must be met by the goods or services intended to be purchased or information on how a bidder may obtain a copy of the specifications.

K. COMPETITIVE BIDDING AND PROPOSALS

Invitations for Bid, Request for Proposals (RFP) and Request for Qualifications (RFQ) are means for notifying the vendors that the government has specific requirements for goods and/or services and that they are being offered an opportunity to fulfill those requirements.

- 1. Competitive bidding provides a means for the available vendors to compete with each other to provide goods and/or services.
 - a. The purpose of the competitive bidding is to ensure that public monies are spent properly, legally and that the best possible value is received for the money.

b. It is also to give qualified and responsible vendors a fair and equitable opportunity to do business with the City.

L. BID SPECIFICATIONS

A specification is a concise description of a good or service an entity seeks to buy, and the requirements the vendor must meet in order to be considered for the award. A specification may include requirements for testing, inspection or preparing an item for delivery, or preparing or installing the item for use. The specification is the total description of the purchase.

Bid specification should include:

- 1. Minimum acceptability of the good or service. The term "minimum acceptability" is key since the vendor must know the minimum standard to determine what to provide.
- 2. Provisions for reasonable tests and inspections for acceptability of the good or service. The methods and timing of testing and inspection must be indicated in the specification. Tests should refer to nationally recognized practices and standards, whenever possible.
- 3. Identify at least two commercially available brands, makes, or models (whenever possible) that will satisfy the intended purpose. Brand name, catalogue number, etc. may be submitted as a guide to the vendor as to the type and quality of merchandise desired. However, the wording "or approved equal" will always be added as we do not want to discriminate against any vendor's merchandise. Competition must be kept in mind throughout the writing of specifications. Without competition, specifications are not needed. Vendors must be given an equal opportunity to submit a quotation on their merchandise.
- 4. Use units of measure that is compatible with industry standards. All quantities and packing requirements shall be clearly identified.

Preparing Specifications; The scope of work, itemized bid form, and plans/specifications may be prepared by the applicable department or by a professional consultant hired by the City.

- 1. The creation and submission of specifications is the responsibility of the user department.
- 2. Vendors can be used as a source for specifications as long as they are advised that a sealed bid procedure will be used and the vendor cannot be treated with any type of favoritism.
- 3. In order to assure fair and competitive bids, brand names should not be used in specifications unless it is made clear to each bidder that the brand name is being used for reference only, by adding a "or equal".

If factors other than price will be considered in bid selection, such factors shall be clearly stated in the bid specifications.

M. SEALED BID ADMINISTRATION

All sealed bids and proposals will be administered by the Finance Department or Purchasing Representative. A bid number will be assigned and advertising dates, pre-bid meeting dates and the bid opening date set. Finance Department or Purchasing Representative will be responsible for the bid opening and reading of the bids received. Once opened, a bid tabulation will be created and all bids will be reviewed. When all bids have been reviewed, the user department will be responsible for submitting a written recommendation of bid award to the City Council.

N. SEALED BID OPENING AND PRE-BID MEETING PROCEDURES

In order to establish a standardized format of bid openings and pre-bid meetings the following procedures shall be followed:

- 1. The Finance Department or Purchasing Representative shall conduct all bid openings and pre-bid meetings.
- 2. There will be a least one representative from Finance Department and a City employee from the department who submitted the purchase request at all bid openings and prebid meetings. This employee should be knowledgeable of the bid specifications and at pre-bid meetings should be prepared to answer all questions that pertain to the specifications. At bid openings the Finance Department or Purchasing Representative will act as the recorder of all information that is read at the bid opening and will publicly confirm that all information was read completely and truthfully.

O. COMPETITIVE PROPOSALS

Competitive proposals or request for qualifications are similar to competitive bids but are limited by Texas statutes. They can only be used for procurements of high-technology products or services and in some cases for procuring insurance. Proposals are also used to procure professional or personal services. The Professional Services Procurement Act prohibits using competitive bids to procure professional or personal services.

- 1. Specifications are written using performance standards rather than the description of the good or service.
- 2. Vendors submit proposals of their own design for a system to satisfy the requirement set forth in the proposal. Proposals may incorporate entirely different hardware or services to accomplish the same performance.
- 3. The City will not hold proposal openings, unless requested by the Department Director, City Manager or City Council.
- 4. The City will select a firm based on the firm's demonstrated competence and qualifications to perform the requested services. The City then attempts to negotiate a contract with that firm at a fair and reasonable price. If the City is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with most highly qualified firm, the City formally ends

negotiations with that firm and attempts to negotiate a contract with the next most highly qualified firm. This continues until a contract is finally negotiated.

5. The contract is not exempt from the requirement of City Council approval just because it is exempt from competitive purchasing requirements. Accordingly, a contract for personal, professional, and/or planning services requires City Council approval unless the contract falls within the contracting authority that the City Council has granted to the City Manager.

P. COOPERATIVE PURCHASING

Cooperative Purchasing is one of the ways that local governments can save time and money in their purchasing programs. It occurs when two or more entities (state, federal or local governments) coordinate some or all of their purchasing needs so that they can join in purchases to the mutual benefit of all the entities concerned (e.g., fuel, radio equipment, vehicles). A local government cooperative purchasing agreement must be developed and approved by the City Council.

- 1. The benefits are:
 - a. Lower costs through increased volume.
 - b. Lower (shared) administrative costs.
 - c. Improved response from vendors.
 - d. Shared experience leading to better product specifications.
 - e. Better compliance with state statutes on purchasing.
- 2. There are several ways cooperative purchasing can be done:
 - a. Entering into a cooperative agreement with another government entity for a bid.
 - b. Two or more governments may join to purchase one or more goods/services jointly.
 - c. Buying from state contracts.
- 3. Purchasing through a third party
- 4. Legal Constraints There are different statutes for different types of government. When purchasing cooperatively, the strictest statute should apply.

Q. SOLE SOURCE PURCHASES

Competitive bids cannot be obtained on items that are only available from one source.

1. The following are available from only one source and are exempt from bidding:

- a. Items that are available from only one source because of patents, copyrights, secret processes or natural monopolies;
- b. Films, manuscripts, or books;
- c. Electricity, gas, water, or other utility services;
- d. Captive replacement parts or components for equipment;
- e. Books, papers and other library materials for a public library that are available only from the person holding exclusive distribution rights to the material.
- 2. Any items not listed that are considered sole source will need to be supported by the following:
 - a. Statement on how the determination was made that the item(s) requested is/are only available from one source. The statement must include why a functional equivalent is not available from any other source.
 - b. Statement on company letterhead from vendor attesting to the fact that the item(s) being requested is/are only available from that vendor.
 - c. Information concerning previous attempts to obtain competitive bids on the items(s) requested.
 - d. Names of those contacted in an effort to find other sources.
- 3. Sole Source determination will need to be approved by the Finance Department **BEFORE** purchase is made.

R. EMERGENCY PURCHASES

Emergency purchases are those needed to avoid interruption in City Services or to protect public health and safety. These purchases are exempt from competitive bidding.

- 1. Items purchased in case of public calamity to relieve the needs of the citizens or to preserve City property.
- 2. Items to preserve or protect the public health or safety of the residents of the City.
- 3. Items necessary because of unforeseen damage to public property. This includes damage which would stop the productivity of the department or which would cause a safety issue for the City or its citizens.

S. OTHER EXEMPTIONS FROM COMPETITIVE BIDDING

Certain items are exempt from competitive bidding. However, any use of City funds over \$50,000 must be approved by City Council. Texas Local Government Code §252.022 provides the full list, but some of the most common include:

- 1. Personal or professional services
 - a. Accounting
 - b. Architecture
 - c. Professional Engineering
 - d. Land Surveying
 - e. Professional Auditor
 - f. Interior Designer
- 2. Work paid for on a daily basis (day labor)
- 3. Land or right of way
- 4. State of Texas Catalog Purchases
- 5. Interlocal Contracts (HGAC, TASB/Buyboard)

T. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

When the City contracts with an outside party (contractor, consultant, vendor, or concessionaire) for goods or services, the contract should include indemnity and hold harmless provisions that appropriately transfer the project risks from the City to the contractor. Because the contractor may or may not have the financial resources to account for the risk, the City requires the contractor to purchase and maintain valid insurance with a company or companies qualified to do business in Texas and rated at least "A" by AM Best or other equivalent rating service to help ensure the financial security required by the City. Evidence of such insurance shall be provided to City by delivering certificates of insurance. The insurance types are as follows:

- 1. Work Compensation. Workers Compensation covering all employees per the state statutory requirement is required on all contracts.
- 2. Commercial General Liability.
- 3. Commercial Automobile Liability.
- 4. Umbrella liability.
- 5. Reasonable Coverage. Although insurance coverage is not required for every project, and limits will vary by exposure, understanding insurance is important to assure that all of the City's potential liabilities and exposures from project are properly and reasonably protected. Where questions arise about types of insurance or amounts, the Departments should contact the City's Attorneys.

U. STATE LAW REGARDING BONDING

By State Statute, any person, persons, firm, or corporation (prime contractor) entering into a contract in excess of \$50,000 with the City for the constructions, alteration or repair of any public building or prosecution of completion of any public work, shall be required before commencing such work, to provide the following two (2) bonds, issued by a corporate Surety duly authorized and admitted to do business in the State of Texas.

Public Work; Although the term public work is not defined by statute, it is generally understood to mean construction, repair, or renovation of a structure, road, highway, or other improvement or addition to real property. Contracting for demolition of real property would also fall under this definition.

1. Performance Bond

A performance bond in the total amount of the contract conditioned upon the faithful performance of the work in accordance with the plans, specifications, and contract documents is required. The bond shall be solely for the protection of the City.

2. Payment Bond

A payment bond in the total amount of the contract, solely for the protection of all claimants supplying labor and material in the prosecution of the work provided for in the contract, for the use of each claimant.

If the City fails to obtain from the prime contractor a payment bond covering contracts in excess of \$50,000, the City is subject to the same liability as that of a Surety who had issued a valid bond. The claimant is entitled to a lien on funds due the contractor.

3. Bonds for Non-Public Works Projects

There are no State requirements for bonds to cover contracts for goods and services that are not defined as public works projects; it is the City's option. Good business practice would dictate that whenever the City enters into a contract for the purchase of a product system or service in which the system or service will be a little value to the City until it is complete and progress payments are made, then performance and payment bonds should be required.

4. The following legislation has been passed by the State of Texas and must be provided with the bid if the amount of the bid award exceeds \$100,000.00.

If the amount of the bid exceeds \$100,000, the Surety must:

- a. Hold a certificate of authority from the United States Secretary of the Treasury to qualify as a Surety on obligations permitted or required under federal law; or
- b. Have obtained re-insurance for any liability in excess of \$100,000 from a Re-Insurer that is authorized and admitted as a Re-Insurer in this state and is the holder

of a certificate of authority from the United States Secretary of the Treasury to qualify as a Surety or Re-Insurer on obligations permitted or required under federal law.

V. BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER

- 1. A blanket purchase order will be issued for the contracts full amount when the contract is signed.
- 2. If the contract has several different invoices, the department will reference the purchase order number on all the invoices and NOT complete a different purchase order for each invoice.
- 3. A blanket purchase order may also be used for a department to set a side funding for the year to purchase a specific item with one vendor, for example asphalt or uniforms. This allows the department to set aside funds to purchase the one item over the year without having to issue a new purchase order every time a purchase is made.
- 4. A blanket purchase order may not be used for purchases such as office supplies or miscellaneous equipment from one vendor.

W. CHANGE ORDER

State law says that any change in a contract may not be increased by more than 25% of the original cost. (see Texas LGC 252.048). The original contract price may not be decreased under this section by more that 25 percent without the consent of the contractor.

Any changes or amendments to quantities or price, additional charges or any other change significant to the administration of the purchase order must be agreed upon by both the city and the vendor in writing.

A change order shall not be issued until the Department Director determines that necessary funds are budgeted and available and any increase or decrease conforms to state law. A request for a purchase order must be entered into the Incode system to encumber the funds in the budget.

X. TAX EXEMPT STATUS

The City of Lucas is exempt from Federal, State, and Local taxes except in certain prescribed cases. An exemption certificate is available from the Finance Department and will be furnished to any of the City's suppliers upon request.

The Finance Department will also be responsible for the issuance of the necessary documentation to employees with purchasing authority to support the City's exempt status. However, it is the responsibility of each employee with purchasing authority to ensure that the purchase price does not include exempt taxes. An employee MUST make every effort to avoid paying exempt taxes.

Y. VENDOR CREDIT APPLICATIONS

The City of Lucas Finance Department has developed credit information which may be submitted to any vendor requiring credit information. The information will supply the necessary information for the City to be considered for credit and should be coordinated with the Finance Department. Any accounts that are created with a vendor should be reported to Accounts Payable with the credit limit amount. Must be pre-approved by the Department Director and the Finance Director.

Z. IMPORTANT INFORMATION FOR THE USING DEPARTMENTS

- 1. The using departments should plan their work so that "rush order" and emergencies will be held to a minimum. The using department shall avoid additional expenses for rush orders that are due to poor planning.
- 2. Department Directors may not "split" desired purchases in order to circumvent formal bidding requirements. Such action may subject the employee to disciplinary and/or criminal action. Splitting desired purchases includes:
 - a. "Component purchases" purchases of component parts of an item that in normal purchasing practices would be purchases in one purchase.
 - b. "Separate purchases" purchases, made separately, of items that in normal purchasing practices would be purchased in one purchase.
 - c. "Sequential purchases" purchases, made over a period of time, of items that in normal purchasing practice would be purchases in one purchase.
- 3. The using department should suggest the names of vendors that may be able to provide particular items or services being requested, especially items of a technical nature.
- 4. The using department shall give preference in purchasing to products made of recycled materials, remanufactured, or environmental sensitive if the products meet applicable specifications as to quantity and quality and the average price of the product is not more than 10% greater than the price of comparable nonrecycled products. Preferences will be applied in accordance with state procurement statutes and rules (Texas Government Code 2155.445).

AA. SELECTION PROCEDURES ON PURCHASES

The City will use the following criteria or combination of criteria when choosing between vendors. Criteria are attributes that a buying organization values in its arrangements with suppliers. There are eight common supplier selection criteria, in no formal order:

- 1. Cost
- 2. Quality & Safety

- 3. Delivery
- 4. Service
- 5. Social Responsibility
- 6. Convenience/Simplicity
- 7. Risk
- 8. Agility

Depending on the situation, you may use them as-is, use more or fewer, or use a different combination of eight.

Often, sourcing team members will want some criteria to be treated as constraints - unbreakable rules in the supplier selection process. Examples of constraints include:

- a. There can only be one supplier
- b. We must select the low bidder
- c. Delivery must be within six weeks, etc.

Your job as leader of the sourcing team is to determine whether the proposed constraint is a truly warranted constraint or simply an important criterion. You can do so by asking questions like "If we had to choose between (a) having the best quality for all items by using two suppliers and (b) having the best quality for only half the items by using one supplier, would we still insist on using one supplier?" or "If we could save 34% by accepting a seven week lead time instead, would we choose to save the money or would we still need to insist on the six week lead time?" The fewer constraints, the more flexibility the team has in its decision-making.

After agreeing on the constraints and criteria, the sourcing team must agree on a hierarchy - an order of these attributes from most important to least important, with constraints preceding criteria. In most cases, supplier offerings will differ and there will be tradeoffs involving the criteria: you may get a better price from one supplier (cost) but that supplier insists on contract terms less favorable to you (risk). It is important for the sourcing team remain focused on what is most important to make a balanced decision.

BB. PURCHASE MANAGMENT

- A. Follow-up After the Order: The purchasing function is not accomplished simply by placing an order with a supplier. Satisfactory delivery may also include expediting delivery, late delivery, cancellation or changes, and returns.
 - i. Delivery of an order may be delayed or need to be expedited. Please note the anticipated delivery date to ensure efficient project management.
 - ii. Cancellation and/or changes: Purchase orders are legal documents and, in most cases, to cancel an order or make a change to an order a change order is required. Contact

the Finance Department to process an order cancellation or change order. Change order approval authority is the same as purchasing approval authority as listed in IV. A through E.

- iii. Returns: Each department shall inspect all items and services received. If the items delivered are not acceptable, Department Directors shall notify Finance at once. The Department Director and Finance shall work together to obtain replacements.
- B. Vendor Relations: If the department experiences problems with a vendor pertaining to delinquent delivery, quality of product or services, invoicing problems, or any other problems, notify Finance as soon as possible. These problems should be handled professionally, and persistent problems should be documented in writing for future vendor evaluation.
- C. Invoices: In order to comply with the Prompt Payment Act, invoices must be paid within thirty (30) days of delivery or invoice date. All invoices must be processed and transmitted to Finance within twenty (20) days.
- D. Receiving and Inspection: All items must be inspected upon receipt, and whenever possible, in the presence of the vendor or shipper. Inspections should include:
 - i. Verification of correct delivery site;
 - ii. Verification of correct quantity;
 - iii. Verification of correct P.O. number on packing slip;
 - iv. Checking for damaged or defective goods.

V. PURCHASING CREDIT CARD POLICY

This policy establishes the basis for the City's credit card program. The credit card program is designed to improve efficiency in processing purchases from any authorized vendor that accepts the credit cards.

This program will allow the cardholder to purchase approved supplies and services directly from vendors; but cannot be used to circumvent the Purchasing Policy and all credit card purchases must be less than \$1,000. Each credit card is issued in the name of the employee who is responsible for its use, and/or the "City of Lucas" is clearly shown on the card as the governmental buyer of the supplies/services.

The card may be used to purchase non-restricted commodities in person at the vendor site, over the telephone, via fax, by mail and over the Internet.

If a card is lost or stolen, immediately contact the Finance Department.

It is the responsibility of the cardholder to obtain transaction receipts for all purchases. Sales receipts and/or packing slips must be obtained whether a purchase is made in person or via telephone, fax, mail, or over the Internet. It is the employee's responsibility to assure that the description on the sales receipt or packing slip is legible and clearly describes the purchase. These receipts will be used by the Finance Department to balance the monthly reconciliation and be part of the documentation kept on file to substantiate the payment process. Documentation maintained must be accurate, accessible and complete, as it not only records the transaction, but also supports the legitimate business purpose of the purchase. In addition to sales receipts and packing slips, the following are additional examples of supporting documentation:

- a. Copies of internal order forms
- b. Subscription or dues forms
- c. Conference registration forms
- d. Statement of service report from vendor performing on-site repairs
- e. Cash register receipts

In the event all efforts to obtain documentation of a transaction have failed, the cardholder must attach a written description of the purchase along with a signed certification that the purchase was made in accordance with City policy. Failure to provide certification may result in disciplinary action and the employee may be required to pay the City for the undocumented expense and cancellation of the employee's authority to utilize the City's credit card. City staff is responsible for submitting all documentation to the Finance Department in a timely manner.

VI. CITY CONTRACT ADMINISTERING POLICY

A. OVERVIEW

The Purchasing Policies and Procedures sets forth the guidelines for procurement of material, services and equipment but is silent with respect to signing authority of contracts that legally bind the City into contractual obligations relating to expenditures of city resources.

Due to the increasing number of contracts and leases generated by the various City departments, it is necessary to establish a policy to provide effective procedures to monitor and administer certain contracts and leases more efficiently. This policy provides for the creation and maintenance of a system to assist the City in meeting its objectives, and those contracts are timely reviewed and renewed as appropriate.

"Contract" as used herein means any lease or agreement wherein the City is to receive or expend funds for goods or services. This policy shall apply to all contracts except those specifically exempted.

B. STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to:

- 1. Provide a uniform system to monitor and administer certain City contracts and leases to ensure that all contracts undergo authorized review and approval prior to execution.
- 2. Provide clarity of roles and responsibilities so Department Directors and others can manage their respective areas of responsibilities in an effective, efficient and transparent manner.
- 3. To ensure that the City complies with all reasonable requirements from external agencies such as granting agencies.
- 4. To ensure sound stewardship of all resources and assets and that processes are in place to provide for consistent accountability and reporting throughout the City.

C. POLICY

The Mayor and City Manager is hereby designated as the sole signors for all City contracts. Those contracts that specifically require the Mayor's signature include, but are not exclusively limited to, banking contracts, interlocal agreements, and in accordance with Section 3.12 (3) of the Home Rule Charter, the Mayor is the signor of all Capital Improvements Contracts. Effective October 1, 2014 the City Manager is authorized to sign contracts up to \$50,000 providing funds are budgeted to cover the contract.

Department Directors are responsible to ensure that the contract is to be routed first through the City Attorney for approval with a copy to Finance to ensure that funds are available for the contract, then to the Mayor by placing the contract on the agenda or City Manager for approval whichever approval is required by the purchasing policy.

D. CONTRACT PROCEDURES

Specific procedures are as follows:

- 1. The Department Director is responsible for preparing the contract and will notify the City Attorney if assistant is need it.
- 2. After a final draft contract has been approved by the City Attorney's office, the Department Director will discuss and review the terms and conditions with the contracting party. The Department Director will, thereafter, notify the City Attorney of any changes to the previously approved contract document.
- 3. The Department Director will send it to Finance for verification that funding is available.

- 4. The City Attorney's Office or the Department, as appropriate, will finalize the contract.
- 5. The Department Director will forward the contract to the contracting party for signature prior to Council's action or execution by City Manager.
- 6. The Department Director will prepare the agenda item coversheet, if applicable.
- 7. Upon approval of the contract by City Council, the City Secretary will forward the contract to the Mayor or City Manager for execution.
- 8. An original signed copy of each contract will be filed with the City Secretary with a copy provided to the Finance Department.
- 9. The Department Directors are responsible for ensuring that certain events specified in contracts are timely met, such as release of maintenance/performance bonds, release of lien on certain properties, release of temporary easements, contract performance dates and contract renewals or extensions as necessary.
- 10. Whenever possible, contracts will be for a timeframe that coincides with the City's fiscal year.

E. STATE LAW REQUIREMENTS

City officials, employees and vendors/contractors must comply with various state laws with respect to purchasing. The following provides a summary and the general requirements of the laws:

- 1. In accordance with Chapter 176, Local Government Code, any vendor that is awarded a contract with the city must have on file with the Finance Department an updated Conflict of Interest Questionnaire (CIQ form). The Department Director will forward the Conflict of Interest Questionnaire to the vendor and return the completed form to the Finance Department.
- 2. In accordance with the Local Government Code, Local Government officers must complete Conflict Disclosure Statement (CIS form) if they aware of a conflict within seven (7) days of discovery. The section 176.003 of the Local Government Code requires certain local government officers to file this form. A "local government officer" is defined as a member of the governing body of a local governmental entity; a director, superintendent, administrator, president, or other person designated as the executive officer of a local governmental entity; or an agent of a local governmental entity who exercises discretion in the planning, recommending, selecting, or contracting of a vendor.
- 3. In accordance with the Government Code §2252.908 any vendor that is awarded a contract with the city must complete Form 1295, Certificate of Interested Parties. The vendor must go to <u>www.ethics.state.tx.us</u> to file report electronically. The vendor shall print a copy of the form and submit it to the Department Director with the signed copy of the contract.

- 4. Gov. Code 2270.001 Anti-Israel Boycott and Anti-Terrorism Compliance Status The Anti-Israel boycott clause applies only to contract that are both: (i) with a company that has ten (10) or more employees, and (ii) an expenditure of \$100,000 or more. The Anti-Israel Boycott and Anti-Terrorism Compliance Status form shall be obtained from the Finance Department, completed by the vendor, and returned to the Finance Department.
- 5. Prohibition of Boycott Energy Companies. Professional (Contractor) verifies that it does not Boycott Energy Companies and agrees that during the term of this Agreement will not Boycott Energy Companies as that term is defined in Texas Government Code Section 809.001, as amended. This section does not apply if Professional (or Contractor) is a sole proprietor, a non-profit entity, or a governmental entity; and only applies if: (i) Professional (or Contractor) has ten (10) or more fulltime employees and (ii) this Agreement has a value of \$100,000.00 or more to be paid under the terms of this Agreement.
- 6. Prohibition of Discrimination against Firearm Entities and Firearm Trade Associations. Professional (Contractor) verifies that it does not have a practice, policy, guidance, or directive that discriminates against a firearm entity or firearm trade association; and (ii) will not discriminate during the term of the contract against a firearm entity or firearm trade association. This section only applies if: (i) Professional (or Contractor) has ten (10) or more fulltime employees and (ii) this Agreement has a value of \$100,000.00 or more to be paid under the terms of this Agreement; and does not apply: (i) if Professional (or Contractor) is a sole proprietor, a non-profit entity, or a governmental entity; (ii) to a contract with a sole-source provider; or (iii) to a contract for which none of the bids from a company were able to provide the required certification.

VII. NONCOMPLIANCE

Noncompliance with City of Lucas and State purchasing law may have severe consequences.

In addition to City disciplinary procedures, up to and including termination, an employee could potentially face criminal charges for violating purchasing procedures.

The Texas Local Government Code §252.062 provides that a municipal officer or employee commits an offense if the officer or employee, (1) intentionally or knowingly makes or authorizes separate, sequential or component purchases to avoid the competitive bidding requirements of §252.021, (2) intentionally or knowingly violates any other provision of §252.021. An offense under these provisions is a Class B misdemeanor. Further, if a municipal officer or employee intentionally or knowingly violates any other provision of chapter 252, such offense is a Class C misdemeanor. Moreover, for four years after final conviction, an employee convicted of an offense under §252.062 is ineligible:

1. to be a candidate for appointed or elected public office in this state,

- 2. to be employed by the City;
- 3. to receive compensation through a contract with the City.

VIII. GLOSSARY OF PURCHASING TERMS

Amendment

Written addition or change to a contract.

Award

The act of accepting a bid, thereby forming a contract between the city and a bidder.

Best Interest of the City

Most advantageous to the City in light of all relevant circumstances.

Bid

An offer to contract with the city submitted in response to a bid invitation issued by the City.

Bid Bond

Guarantees a bidder will enter into a contract are recommended for award.

Change Order

An amendment, clarification, change or deletion to the original scope of work or contract.

City

City of Lucas.

City Council

The elected officials of the City of Lucas, Texas given the authority to exercise such powers and jurisdiction of all City business as conferred by the City Charter and the State of Texas Constitution and laws.

Contract

A legally enforced agreement between two or more parties.

Cooperative Purchasing

Is one of the ways that local governments can save time and money in their purchasing programs. It occurs when two or more entities (state, federal or local governments) coordinate some or all of their purchasing needs so that they can join in purchases to the mutual benefit of all the entities concerned.

Debarment/Debarred

An exclusion from contracting, subcontracting or doing business with the City.

Divestment Statutes List

The Texas Comptroller shall prepare and maintain, and make available to each governmental entity, a list of companies known to have contract or provide supplies or services to a foreign terrorist organization.

Emergency Purchase

A purchase of goods or services so critical that an agency will suffer financial or operational damage unless they are secured immediately.

Employee

A person employed by the City who is drawing a salary or wages directly from the City.

Fiscal Year (City of Lucas)

A period of 12 consecutive months, beginning on October 01 of each year and ending September 30 of the next year.

Goods

The term means supplies, materials or equipment.

Historical Underutilized Business (HUB)

- Is a for-profit entity that has not exceeded the size standards prescribed by <u>34 TAC §20.23(Texas Administrative Code)</u>, and has its principal place of business in Texas, and
- Is at least 51% owned by an Asian Pacific American, Black American, Hispanic American, Native American, American woman and/or Service Disabled Veteran, who reside in Texas and actively participate in the control, operations and management of the entity's affairs.

Inspection

Examination and/or testing of merchandise to determine whether it has been received in proper quantity and conditions and to verify that it conforms to the applicable specifications.

Interlocal Contract

Written understanding between local government entities, a local government entity and a federally recognized Indian tribe, or a local government entity and a state agency of Texas or another state as authorized by Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code.

Invitation for Bids

A written request for submission of a proposal response.

Lease

A contract conveying from one entity to another the use of real or personal property for a designated period of time in return for payment or other consideration.

Local Government

A County, Municipality, School District, Special District, or other legally constituted political subdivision of the State.

Low Bid

Bidder has submitted the lowest total amount for each item bid.

Opening Date

The date and time that bids are due in response to a RFQ or RFP

Performance Bond

A deposit, pledge, or contract of guaranty supplied by a contractor to protect the City against loss due to the contractor's inability to complete the contract as agreed.

Pre-Bid Meeting

Their purpose is to clarify any concerns bidders may have with the solicitation documents, scope of work and other details of the requirement.

Procurement

The act of obtaining or buying goods and services. The process includes preparation and processing of a demand as well as the end receipt and approval of payment.

Public Bid Opening

The opening of Bids at the time and place advertised in the solicitation, in the presence of anyone who wishes to attend, Bids will be read aloud.

Purchase Orders

A document issued by the City indicating types, quantities and agreed prices for the products or services the seller will provide to the agency.

Purchasing Debarred

Vendor who has failed to comply with their state contracts and have been debarred from doing business with the state of Texas.

Quote

A Quote is an informal written price response. The term "quote" for the purpose of this manual will be used for items less than \$50,000.00

Recycled Materials

Material, goods, or products that contain recyclable material, industrial waste, or hazardous waste that may be used in place of raw or virgin materials in manufacturing a new product.

Recyclable Product

A product that meets the requirement for recycled materials content as prescribed by the rules established by Texas Commission on Environment Quality in consultation with CPA.

Remanufactured Product

A product that has been repaired, rebuild, or otherwise restored to meet or exceed the OEM (Original Equipment manufacturer) performance specifications; provided, however, the warranty period for a remanufactured product may differ from OEM warranty period.

Representative

A person appointed to act for another.

Request for Proposal (RFP)

A writing solicitation requesting the submission of proposal.

Request for Qualification (RFQ)

A writing solicitation requesting the submission of qualifications or specialized services. Typically used for procurement of professional services.

Sealed Bids and Proposal

A response which is kept secure and unopened until after the due date and time specified.

Soul Source

Supplier is the only source for contract item, i.e., patented or copyright product.

Vendor

A potential provider of good or services to the City.